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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

JASON BOUDREAU
Plaintiff, No. 3:17€v-589(SRU)

V.

DOUG SMITH, et al.,
Defendans.

RULING ON DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND
PLAINT IFF'S MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

On April 10, 2017, the plaintiff, Jason Boudreau, a federal inrfikgd,a civil rights
complaintpro sepursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988ainst the twn of Branford, Connecticut, the
Branford Police DepartmelitBPD"), five menbers ofthe BPD, and four members of the
United States Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”) for using®sive force during his
arrestin violation of his Fourth Amendmentgiection against unreasonable seizures

All claims agaist thetown of Branbrd, theBPD, and allBPD officers have been
dismissed Seelnitial Review Order, Doc. No. @t 13 Sipulation of Dismissal, Doc. No. 39
Ruling, Doc. No. 50. The only remaining claim in tbése is a Fourth Amendment claim for
excessive force againBHS officersDougSmith,David Riccio, and Brendan Cullen
(collectively, the‘Federal defendants' based on their failure to intervene wHaD officers
permitedaBPD carine named “Jokerto appr@achBoudreauwhile he wa handcuffed and
detainedand then to bitBoudreaus leg SeeRuling, Doc. No. 50at 15 Boudreaubrings his
constitutional claimagainst the Federdeferdantsin theirindividual apacitiefor damages

underBivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Fed. Bureau of Naret@4).S. 388 (1971).
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The Federal defendants hdiled a motion for summary judgment, doc. no. 72, argie, first,
that theyarenotliable for the aleged Fourth Amendment violation, and, in #tiernative that
they are ertled to qualifiedimmunity. Relatedly, Boudreau has filed a motion for discovery
sanctions.SeeMot. for SanctionspPoc. No. 110. For the reasons that follow, the Defendants’
motion for summary judgment, doc. no. 72gianted, and Boudreau’s motion for sanctions,
doc. no. 110, islenied

I. Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 72)

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is appropriate when the record demonstrates that “there is no genuine
dispute as to any materiadt and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of |ked:
R. Civ. P. 56(a)see also Anderson v. Liberty Lobby.Jm77 U.S. 242, 256 (1986) (plaintiff
must present affirmativevidence in order to defeat a properly supported motion for syynma
judgment). When ruling on a summary judgment motion, the court must construe the facts of
record in the light most favorbgto the nonmoving party and must resolve all ambiguities and
draw all reasonable inferences against the moving pamygerson477 U.S. at 258ylatsushita
Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Carp75 U.S. 574, 587 (1986Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Go.
398 U.S. 144, 158-59 (197@ee also Aldrich v. Randolph Cent. Sbist., 963 F.2d 520, 523
(2d Cir. 1992) (court is required to “resolve all ambiguities and draw all inferaméagoir of
the nonmoving party”). When a motion for summary judgment isguhppupported by
documentary and testimonial evidence, however, the nonmoving party may not rest upon the

mere allegations or dais of the pleadings but must present sufficient probative eseédien

1 on May 28, 2@9, Boudreau filed anoticeof voluntary dsmissé againstJames$Bertz. SeeNotice, Doc. No. 93
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establish a genuine issue of material fa@tlotex @rp.v. Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 327 (1986);
Colon v. Coughlin58 F.3d 865, 872 (2d Cir. 1995).

“Only when reasonable minds could not differ as to the import of the evidence is
summary judgment properBryant v. Maffucgi923 F.2d 979, 982 (2d Cir. 199%gealso
Suburban Propane v. Proctor Gas, In@53 F.2d 780, 788 (2d Cir. 1992). If the nonmoving
party submits evidence that is “merely colorable,” or is not “significantly pralat cout may
grant summary judgmennderson477 U.S. at 249-50The mere existence of some alleged
factual dispute between tiparties will not déeat an otherwise properly supported motion for
summary judgment; the requirement is that there be no gensureea$ material factRegarding
materiality, the substan@iawwill identify which facts are materialOnly disputes ovdacts
that might #ect the outcome of the suit under the governing law will properly preclude the entry
of summary judgmentFadual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will not be counted.
Id. at 247—-48.To present a “genuine” issue of material fact, there mmeisontradictory
evidence “such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the non-moving paugy.”

248.

If the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of
his case with respect to wh he has the burden of proof at trial, then summary judgment is
appropriate.Celotex 477 U.S. at 322. In such a situation, “there can be ‘no genuine issue as to
any material fact,” sinca canplete failure of proof concerning an essential elemeriteof t
nonmoving partys case necessarily renders all other facts immatetigl 4t 322—23accord
Goenaga v. March of Dimes Birth Defects Fould. F.3d 14, 18 (2d Cir. 1995) (movant’s

burden saisfied if he can point to an absence of evidence to suppassential elemeof



nonmoving party’s claim). In short, if there is no genuine issue of material fact, syummar
judgment may eer. Celotex 477 U.S. at 323.

Although the court is requed to read a selepresented party’s papé€igerally to raise
the stongest argumentsdhthey siggest” Willey v. Kirkpatrick 801 F.3d 51, 62 (2d Cir. 2015),
“unsupported allegations do neate a material issue of fact” andrdi overcome a properly
supported motion fortsnmaryjudgment. Weinstock v. GlumbiaUniv., 224 F.3d 33, 41 (2d
Cir. 20M).

B. Facts

On December 28, 20158,Magistrate Judge iRhode Islandssued an arrest warrantch
complant againsBoudreauor child pornography offensesSeeDefs.’ 56(a)l Stmrt. (“56(a)l
Stmnt.”), Doc. No. 72-2at 1] 3—4. At the times relevant to this actio@mithoversaw the
exealtion ofarrest warrantas the Residemtgent in Clarge(*RAC”) of the New Haven office
of DHS sHomeland $aurity Investigations (“KbI”) division. Id. a 71124-25. Cullenwasthe
RAC of theHSI Rhode Islanaffice. SeeCullen Decl, Ex. Cto Defs: Mot. for Summ.J.
(“Cullen Decl?), Doc. No. 72-5, at T 1Riccio was a HSI Special Agentvho investigated
criminal activities inRhode I$and Riccio Decl.,Ex. D to Defs. Mot. for Summ. J. (Riccio
Decl”), Doc.No. 72-6,at 11.

On De@mber29, 2015, Cullen and Riccio attempted to execute the outstanding arres
warrant for Bodreay but they had troub locatingBoudreau in Rhode Islan&ee56(a)l
Stmnt.,Doc. No. 722, at 11B—20. The Rhode Island State Police requesteditellocation
information (‘CSLI") from Sprintto assist Cullen and Riccio in looag Boudreau.Seed. at |

21. That CSLlled Cullen and Riccio to ConnecticuGeedd. at 22 Cullen calledSmith, who



worked at theHSI office in New Haven,to tell Smith about Boudreau and that Rhode Island law
enforcement believed Boudreau was in ConnectiSee d. a& 1 23 Snith avers that he then
contacted th&PD to let them knowthat HSI gecial agers would be in the area looking for
Boudreau.SeeSmith Decl., K. Eto Defs: Mot. for Summ. J. (Smith Decl”), Doc. No. 72-7,
at 14. TheBPD then offered to assist in théat to searcHor Boudreau.Sees6(a)l Stmnt.,
Doc. No. 722, at] 25. Ultimately, the BPD dispatchedfficer Jay Kaufman and otharto assist
theFederal defendasiin locating and apprehending Boudre&eeKaufmanDecl.,Ex. F to
Defs! Mot. for Summ. J. (Kaufman Decl’), Doc. No. 72-8at{ 5

Upon arriving in Connecticut, Cullen and Riccio weardtfto East Havebecause that is
where CSLI indicated th&oudreats cell phone wasSees6(a)l Stmri., Doc. No. 72-2, at
26. After Cullen andRiccio arrivedin East HavenCSLI indicated that Baireaus cell phone
was inBranford“near a plaza on MaiStree, which contained many stores, including a Kehl
Depatment Store and Gamé&top, which | will call the“Plaza” See idat{ 27. While they
waited to meet with Smith and BRidficers, Cullen ancdRiccio drove up and down the streets
near the Plaza lookingf@oudeau See idat { 28. Bodreausvehide, arentalcar that agets
knew Boudreawasusng, was locatechat the Plazaalthough Boudreau was not in tehicle at
thattime. Seeid. at ff129-30. Cullen and icio, as well as otheBPD officers, searchetbr
Boudreau in the Plazadifferentstores, but they did not find hingeed. at f 31-32. Te
BPD dficers and he Federal defendardat in the Plaza and watchBdudreau’sarwhile they
waited for the stoes to close and ¢hparkinglot to empty but Boudreau did not come for his car.
Seed. at 1 33-34. @llen, Riccio, and othetaw enforcemert officerslooked for Boudreau in

nearbyrestaurantaind bars and alorynerbywooded train track aredut they could not find



him, and so Cullen andicdo returned to the parking lot where Boedus rental vehicle was
locatal. See idat 11 36—38.At that point,Cullen and Riccidearnedirom Rhode Islandaw
enforcement agentbat CSLIindicatedthatBoudreats cell phonewas near &#owling alleyin
Branford Seed. at{ 40.
1. The Track

In this case, the Defendants submitted five videos of bodg@afootage from different
BPD officersthat(partially) capture thevents in question in this casBeeBodycamFootage,
Ex. G to Defs.Mot. for Summ. J., Doc. No. 729 .Bodycam Foofge indicates that ¢hFederal
defendats andBPD dficers disamissedBoudeaus possble locationnear thebowling alley. See
Video 1, Doc. No. 738, at1:33-40 Someone then asked BPD Officer Melissan€gif she
wanted to fun with thedog,” and she respondedf course want to run with the dog!1d. at
1:43-48. BPD Officer Carney ad otherBPD dficers providedCullen and Riccidirectiors to
the ara of the bowling alley, and Cullen and Riccio prateeeto tha area to search for
Boudreau.Seeb6(a)l Stmnt., Doc. No. 72-2, at 11 41-42. Smith, thastglged athe Plaza
nearBoudreaus rental vehiclein caseBoudreaureturned SeeSmithDecl., Doc. No. 72-7, &t
11.

Soonafter Cullen and Riccideparéd Jokerand Jokes handler—aBPD Canine
Officer—arrived and Joker begawo track Boudreau’ssceni BPD Offi cer Carneyfollowed

behind Joker and the BPD Caaiffficer Sees6(a)l Stmnt., Doc. No. 72-2, at { 5Phe BPD

2 | refer tothe various vidos as follows*Video1” is the filePICTO0®_2015.12.30_04.00.46.AVIt appears to
the beBodycam Footge fromBPD OfficerCamey. “Video 2 is the filePICT0011_205.12.30_04.08.1AVI. It
appears tte the Bodycam Footage from the BEBnine Officer (Jokés handér). “Video 3” is the file
PICT0012_201512.30_04.16.28.AVI. It appears to be BodycanfFootagefrom BPD Cfficer Kaufman. “Video
4" is PICT0012_2015.12.30_04.37.26.AVIl.do not rely orVideo 4. “Video 5' is
PICTO014_2015.12.30_04.15.%6/I. “Video 6" is PICT0015 203.12.30_04.8.46.AVI. | do not rely orvideo
6.
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Canine Gficer instructedBPD Officer Carneyto remain fifteen fetebehind him during thdrack.
SeeVideo 1, Doc. No. 72-%t8:04-08. less tha five minutesafterJoker began tracking
BoudreauQOfficer Caneyrecaved a radio messagconveying that Boudreau hbden located at
a bar called the Cue & BrewseeVideo 1, Doc. No. 72-9, at 8:43-13:28 (beginning of Jaker’
trackto radiomessagge BPD Officer Carneylet the BPD CanineOfficer know hatBoudeau
was in theCue & Brew, and the Canine Officer respondethat s where[Joker’s] going.” Id.
at13:37.

At that point,BPD Officer Carneystopped following Joker andginto a tailing pdice
vehicle to getothe Cue & Brewmore quickly® Id. at13:49. AnotheBPD officer—Officer
Kaufman—radioedshortly thereafter tondicak that Boudreau was in custody at Gie&

Brew. Id. at 13:59. The BPD CanineOfficer respnds, “Jay, hold hinhiere caninés trackng
right upcommercial parkway.” Id. at 14:05.A BPD officer from the Cue & Brew radioed again
to report that Boudreaued been positively identifiedld. at 14:30. TheBPD Canine Offcer
regponds, “Yeah, Rogel just waried to se if the dog is coming your way nowwanna see if
he’s, uh, gona alert tchim. Just for my training.’Seed. at 14:36—40; Video 2, Doc. No. 72-9,
at7:07-15. About five miness latey theBPD Canine Officersubsequentlgtated “Justhave

him starding outside . . . dwvethat individual aitside the carnjust standing ther” Video 2, Doc.
No. 72-9, at 12:39-54. hEBPD Canine Officerdid not advise thehe wauld bring Joker into

the Que & Brew upon hg arrival. Sees6(@)1L Stmnt., Doc. No. 72;2t9 61.

2. At the Cue & Bew

3 When OfficerCarneyenteedthe Cue & Brew,a BPD officer, whom Boudrea idertifies asOfficer Kaufman,
was standing nexto oneof the Federal defelans, whom Boudreau idetifies asCullen SeePl.’s Reporse Doc.
No. 96 at 1 57 Video 1, Doc. No. 72, at15:20-38.
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Cullen and Ricio hadarrived at the Ge & Brewwhile Joker’s track was underwagee
56(@)1 Stmnt., Doc. No. 72-2, §t66. Cullen and Ricciobserved a mamatching Boudreau’s
descrption attenpting to ext the establishment with a fena Seed. at § 67.Cullenand
Ricdo stgppedBoudreau and asked him his nangee idat § 69. Cullen and Riccio recount
thatBoudreau gave them a false naamg told them hidientification wagwvith his fiendsat a
pooltable at the back of the Cu& Brew. Seed. at 1l 70—72.Cullenand Rccio representhat
Boudreaus friends refused to speakth themor to providethem withBoudreaus
identification Seed. at 1 7475. Boudeaueventually informed Cu#in andRicdo that his
identification was at the front deskSee d. at 76; Pl.'s Respose Doc. No. 96at 76 Cullen
and Riccio escortedddidreau to the front desk, wher8RD officer wastalking to aCue &
Brew employee See56(a)l Stmnt., Doc. No. 72-3f 1 7—78 Pl.’s Response, Doc. No. 98t
1 77. After Boudreaus identity was confirmeddPD dficers handcuffedBoudreatand emptied
his pocketavhile he remainedtanding next t@ pool table See56(@)1 Stnnt., Doc. No. 72-2,
aty 80 Pl's Reporse Doc. No. 96at f 80(“The Plaintiff was alreadyn handaiffs when
video 3 begins. Officer Kaufman is frisking the Pldfrand enptying his pockets.”); Video 3,
Doc. No. 729, at0:27-1:23.

While Boudrea remainedbesidethe pool &ble Culen proceededto the aredn the back
of theCue & Brewto speak with Boudreasifriends Sees6(a)l Stmnt., Doc. No. 72-at 1 82
Video 5, Doc No. 72-%t 1:45-5:44.Riccio remained dse to BoudreauSees6(a)l Stmnt.,
Doc. No. 722, at] 83 After Cullenreturned to thearea neathe pooltable wherdBoudreau
wasdetained, Budreau sked Cullen a question aldayathering his personal belongings from

hisrental vehicle, and Cullen answered that he wasgrp make suchrrangemerst Seed. at



11 84-85. Bodycam Footagmdicates that, ahis point, whichwas bebre Jder arived, Culen
and Ricoo walked away fom the areavhere Boudreau was detainefieeVideo 3 Doc. No.
72-9, at 5:29-31; Video 5, Doc. No. 72a886:10-15.

Arounda minute ater,Joker enteredhe Cue & Brewon a leashapproachd Boudreau,
andthe BPD Canine Officanstruded Jdkerto find Boudreau by sayingWhoisit, buddy?
Who is it? SeeVideo 3, Doc. No. 72-9, at 6:42. Boudreau stood next to the pool tableasd
surrounded byseveraBPD dficers Seed. at6:42—7:17; Video 1, Doc. No. 72-9, at 22:20—
23:09; Video 2, Doc. No. 72-9, at 15:03-36; Video 5, Doc. No. 72-9, at 7:16-8:04. After being
in Boudreaus vicinity for more than 30 seconds, Joker theade soméype of contactwith
Boudreau.In his amended complaint, Bdteau akged thatin this instance, the defendants
“allowedJoker to nudge the Plaintgflegs wth his nose.”SeeAm. Compl., Doc. No. 113t 11
43, 45. However, in his Opposititrere Boudreau iepreserd thatthe same inciderwasJoker’s
first of two “bites.” SeePl.’s Oppn to Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J. PI.'s Oppn”), Doc. No. 124,
at22. TheBodycam Footgedoes noindicate whether Jokes first contact with Boudreau was
a “nudge”or a“bite.” However,the BPD CanineOfficer can be heartelling Joker;No,” and
instructingJokerto “leave it” SeeVideo 2, Doc. No. 72-9, at 15:37-38; Video 3, Doc. No. 72-
9, at 7:15-16; Video 5, Doc. No. 72&,757-58

Boudreau, whoid not appear texhibit expressions of pairr distressimmediately
afterwardsaskedthe BPD officers surrounding him“Is he still in trainin@” SeeVideo 3, Doc.
No. 72-9, at 7:18-19; Video 5, Doc. No. 72a98:06-01. The BPDofficers answered Boudreau
in the negative See id. Approximatly six to vensecondsater, Joker bit BoudreauSee

Video 2, Doc. no. 72-9, at 15:47; Video 3, Doc. No. 7at%:26—-27 (Boureau lurches



forward); Video 5 Doc. No. 72-9, at 8:08Thetime betwea Jdker' s firstcontactwith Boudeau
and thdater bie isapproximatelyeleven(11) seconds.

The immediate circle of officesurrounding Boudreaulleappear to be BPD officer
Cullen and Riccio do not appear in Boedus immediate vicinity In Video 2,a male
individual with adark jackefacesBoudreawand stang behindBPD Officer Carrey just prior to
Jokers firgt contactwith Boudeau SeeVideo 2, Doc. No. 72-9,td5:24-27. Although
difficult to see, n Video 3, atthesame timeadifferent maleindividualis on the ghone,standing
behind Officer @rnegy andfacing Boudrau SeeVideo 3, Doc. No. 72-9, at 7:21-23. B
two individualsappear to be Ricciand Cullen, éspectively although the lighting in the videos
does nopermita viewof the individualsfaces. After Joker bit BoudregitheBPD Canine
Officer steppedawaywith Jokerandtalkedto Officer Carney SeeVideo 2, Doc. No. 72-%t
15:48-16:35Video 3 Doc. No. 72-9at 7:27-8:10. The video fooageindicates thathe BPD
Canine Officemlsoconvesedwith Ricdo, while Cullenremaned onhis cellphone? See id.

Shortly dter Joketls bite, Boudeau state, “I think he broke th skin on that last bite
there” Video 3 Doc. No. 72-9, at 8:35-40. WheBRD officer (apparentlyOfficer Kaufman)
asked Boudreauwvhether hevantedmedical attentionBoudreaundicateal that he wouldtake a
look at it later ohand that'it stings like a bastartl. See idat8:55-9:02. A few minutes later,
when a differenBPD officer asked Boudreau whether he neadedical attentionBoudreau
stated agaithat it“stings a bit.” See idat 12:40—-46.A little more than five minutes after that
(a little morethanten minutes after the biteg,BPD officer (again, apparently Offickaufman)

took Boudreau to th€ue & Brew bathroomwhere theBPD officertook a pictureof the bite on

4 | canidentify those ndividualsas Ricio and Cullerbasedn the Bodycam Footge and Riccio and Cullets own
description oftheirconduct SeeDefs! Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. Doc. No. 721, at 33-34; 56(a)1
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Boudreaus leg and noted thatit’s not even bleeding” and that Joker “just gougeallittle bit.”
Still, theBPD officeragainaskedBoudreau if he wantedhedical attentionbut Boudeau
declinedandstated “No” and “I'll live.” Seed. at18:51-19:08. Cullen and Riccio then
transported Boudredust to his rental cart retrieve his personaems and therto Wyatt
DetentionFadlity i n CentralFdls, Rhode Island.See56(a)l Stmnt., Doc. No. 72-at f 97-98.
C. Discussion

In this case Boudreau alleges that the Federal defendaqgtsestedhattheBPD use a
canine officetto locate him.SeeAm. Compl., Doc. No. 113t 18. Boudeau furthelasserts
that after te Federal defendastplaced hm in custody, tie Federal defendastand BPD
officers agreed taletainhim until the BPD Canine Officerarrived withJoker See idat 1 34
Finally, Boudreau believethatthe Federaldeferdantsand BPD dficersthenpemitted Joker to
approach Boudreawhile he washandcuffedand to bite his leg.ld. at §{ 43-44, 47. Bodreau
thusclaims in relevant parthatthe Federal defendants failed to meneto prevent arm See
id. at 7 106-18. The Federal defelantsmaintan that they are notiable on the meritfor a
Fourth Amendment wiation, and,alterndively, thatthey are entitled to qualified immunityn
my ruling on the Bfendantsmotion to dismissl explainedthatBoudreaus failure to intervene
claim ocould usefully be divided intowo parts: (1) failuréo intervene g preventing Joker from
approaching Bougau;and(2) falure tointervene to prevenioker from bitig Boudreau.See
Ruling, Doc. No. 50, at 14.

1. The Law

“The Faurth Amendment prohibits officers fronsing excessive force en arrestig

Stmt., Doc. No. 722, at ] 86-92.
11



criminal supects.” Maye v. Vargas638 F. Supp. 2d 256, 261 (D. Conn. 200@dlice
officers “have an affirmative duty to intercede on the Hfatfaa citizenwhos castitutional
rights are being violated in their presence by other offitdits (citing O’Neill v. Krzemiski,
839 F.2d 9, 11 (2d Cir. 1988nternal quotation marks omitted)An officer who failsto
interveneis liable forthe preventable harmaused by other officers where thaticéf has
resson to knav tha (1) exessve force is being used, (2) a citizen hagi unjustifiably
arrested, and (3 law enforcement officer has committedaastitutional violatio. See d.
(quotingAndersorv. Branen 17 F.3d 552, 55@2d Cir.1994) (internal quotation marks
omitted). For a police officer to be liable for aifure to intervene, “there must haveen a
realisticopportunityto inteveneto prever the harmfrom occurring.” Anderson17 F.3d at
557. “Whethea an officer hada ‘realstic opportunity to intervene . . . is a question of fact for
the jury unless, considering all the evidereceeasonable jy could notpossilly conclude
othewise.” 1d. (quotingO’Neill, 839 F.2d at 11-12).

Qualifiedimmunity “protectsgovernnentofficials ‘from liability for civil damages
insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutmpsiitutonal rights of
which a reasonable personwg have known.” Pear®n v. Callahan555 U.S. 223, 231 (200
(quotingHarlow v. Fitzgerald 457 U.S. 800, 818 (198%) Qualifiedimmunity “affords
government officials ‘breathing room’ to make reasonaldeesif sometimes nstaker—
decisbns.” DiStisov. Cak, 691 F.3d 226, 240 (2d Cir. 2012) (quotMegsserschlit v.
Millender, 565U.S. 535, 553 (2012) “The qualifiedimmunity standard is ‘forgiving’ and

‘protects all but the plainly incompetenttbose wio knowingly violae the law.” Grice v.
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McVeigh 873 F.3d 162, 1662d Cir. 2017) (quotindmore v. Novarrp624 F.3d 522, 53(2d
Cir. 2010).

A right is clearly established if, “at the time of ttigallenged coduct . . . every
‘reasonable oitfial would have urmerstood that what he is doing violates that righA%hcroft
v. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 731, 74@2011) (quotingAnderson v. Creightqr83 U.S. 635, 640 (1987)
A right can be Elearly establishédeven wittout a “case directly on point” having established
that right, bukexisting preceént must have pteal the statutory or constitutional question beyond
debate Id. Evenwhen a rights clearly establishedjualified immunity protectsgovernment
officialswhenit wasobjectively reasonable forem to believe thaheir conduct in the
partiaular factual contexat issue did not violatéhatclearly esablished right.SeeManganello
v. City of New York612 F.3d 149, 165 (2d Cir. 2010)f a reasnabk officer might not have
known for certain that the conduct was unlawftiven the officer is immue from liability.”
Ziglar v. Abbasi137 S. Ct1843, 1867 (2017)l havediscretion to determine the order in which
| will addresgheabove two inquiries (clearly established right and objective reasonableness)
SeeJohnson v. Perry859 F.3d 156, 17(2d Cir. 2017) €iting Tracy v. Freshwater623 F.3d 90,
96 (2d Cir. 200)).

2. Defendant Smith

TheFederaldefendants maintairthat Smith wasot present at the Cue & Brew at the
time of Boudreaus arrestand Joker’s ibe. Rather, according to hikeclaration, Smitlvaswith
Boudreaus rental vehicle at the Plaz&eeSmith Del., Doc. No. 72-7at 11 14-23. Further,
Smith had naccess to BPD radiovas never at the Cue & Brew, and knew nothing about the

details of Jokes track. See id
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Just as iractions fordamage$®rought pursuant to Section 1983jefendants persormal
involvementis aprergyuisiteto aBivensaction. SeeMclintoshv. United States 2016 WL
1274585, at *14 n.16 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 201&)plaining thatpersonal involvement inqy is
the samdor bothBivensand Section 1983 actionsge alsdCasekllar v. Caporale 2010 WL
3522814, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 2, 2010) (granting summary judgmeatieod] agestsued
underBivensbecause of no personal invafen); Sashv. United States674 F. Supp. 2d 531,
545 (S.DN.Y. 2009) 6ame) A plaintiff may esablish thata defendantvas perspally involved
by showing that the defendant “(i) personally participated in the alleged constitwiimagibn,
(i) was grossly negligent in supervising subordinates who committed the wrongful @i, o
exhibiteddeliberatendifferenc to the rights of the plaintiffybfailing to act on information
indicating that unconstitutional acts were occugrinProvostv. City of Newburgh262 F.3d
146, 154 (2d Cir. 2001) (citingolon, 58 F.3dat873).

Here,there isno evidenceor even a reasonable inferenttat Smithwas pesonally
involved in the alleged failure to intervene in this case.sPaply, Smith waited by Boudreas’
rentalcar in a parking losome distance away from the Cue & Brawthe times relevant to this
action. Smth did not knav thatthe BPD Canine Officethad instructed Joker to find Boudreau
inside the Cue & Breywand Smith did not knowhatthe BPD Canin®ffi cer had pemitted
Joker toapproacttlose enogh to Boudreau tbite him Smith does not appear in the Bodycam
Footage depicting the events inside the & Brew, and ncevidencandicatesthat Smith wasn
contactwith BPD dficers during the elevant times Further, no evidence indicates that Smith

supevised Riccioor Cullen Boudreau has adduced no evidentiary sugdpotftis claim that
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Smithfailed tointervene to prevent Jok&om biting him. Smith cannot bdiable forthe alleged
failure to intervene.
3. Failure to Intervene by Preventing Jokeorin Approaching Boudreau

TheFederal defendds argue that Joker’s amach is not a use of force prohibited by the
Fourth Amendment, aneéyen ifit were thatCullen and Ricciare entitledto qualified
immunity. Boudreauetortsthat allowng Joker to approach him while hasvhandcuffed
representednreasonable arekcessive forceand that a reasonable jury cddind thatthe
Federal defendants hdiine to nterveneto prevent Jokesapproach SeePl.’s Oppn, Doc. No.
124,at 22-23. Specifically, Boudreau argues that jury couldfind thatthe Federal defendants
(1) requestedhat the BPD officersise Joker to help locate Boudred@) knewthe BPD Canine
Officer would use Joketo track Boudeay (3) could ewerhearthe BPD dficers’ discussons
about the BD CanineOfficers continued use of Jokezyen afteBoudreaus arrest (4) were
aware thathe BPD Canine OfficelinstructedJoker tofind Boudreauwhile insidethe Cue &
Brew; and (5)had the opportunity to mvert Joker from approaching and biting Boudre&ee
id. at1-5, 21-24, 42, 48urReply, Doc. No. 131at2-3.

As athreshold m#er, it is not clear that BoudreauBivensclaim for failureto intervene
states a claimnder any circumstancefn Bivens the Supeme Court permitted the plaintif
damages claim against federal officers to proceed when he algeadlawful, warrantless
search of his home and . . . an unlawful arreBide v. Hagenbck 870 F.3d 36, 42 (2d Cir.
2017) (citingBivens 403 U.S. at 389)SinceBivens the Supreme Court has implia@8ivens

remedyin situations under just two other constitutional provisions (the Fifth Amendment and the
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Eighth Amendment)hat are irrelevant hefeand has, otherwiségonsistently refused to extend
Bivensto any new context or new category efehdns.” SeeCorrectional SevicesCorp.v.
Malesko,534 U.S. 61, 68 (2001). Before extendaigivensremedy to a nevicontext,” a court
should conglerwhether “Congress haseatd ‘anyalternative, risting process for protectm
the [injured partis] interest’ that itselfnay ‘amoutft] to a convincing reason for the Judicial
Branch to refrain fromqoviding a new and freestanding remedy in damage&dlar, 137 S.
Ct. at 1858 (quotingwilkie v.Robbing 551 U.S. 537, 550 (2007)). Regardless of whether
alternative remedy exist$a Bivensremedy will not be availablif there arespecial factors
counselling hesitation in the abseraf affinative action by Congress.’1d. at 1857(internal
citations and quotation marks omitted). Recently, the Gmainrefused to extend tHgivens
remedyto a new tontext under the Fourth Amendment in teeenario of a fatal crossorder
shooting. SeeHernandez v. Mesal40 S. Ct. 735, 739 (2020).

Like the claim inBivens Boudreats remainingfailure to intervene clam arises under the
Fourth AmendmentHowever, sme lower courts in this circuit have explicitly refused to
recognizea Bivensremedyfor a failure b intervene.See Martinez v. Bgata, 2019 WL
6895436, at *7 (S.D.N. Dec.18, 2019).Other lower courthaveindicatal that they would
reach that radt if they had to, but thelgjave passedn the questionSee e.g, Johnson v.
O’Connel 2018 WL 5085702, at *13 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 17, 2018jo v.United States2019 WL
3852391, at *13 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 15, 20:@&port and recommendation adopt2d19 WL
4602823 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 23, 2019)join the seond group of courtand notespecifically, that

in this caseBoudreathad the alternative remedy availatdé which he avaigd himsel) of

5 SeeDoev. Hagenbeck870 F3d 36, 4.4 (2d Cir. 2017)citing Davis v. Passmam42 U.S. 228, 2384 (1979
(Fifth Amendment)Carlson v. Greepd46 U.S. 4, 18-23 (1980)(Eighth Amendment)).
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sung the BPDofficers under Section 1983. | need detide definitivelywhethera Bivens
remedyis available in this case bea®ieven if it isthe Federal defendants anetitled to
qualified immunity

The mere presence of a poliaegd ewen for purposs of inimidation, does not constitet
excessive forceSeeDavisv. EggHarbor Twp.,2017 WL 2423053, at *8 n.9 (D.N.J. June 5,
2017)(citing casel Cardonav. Connolly 361 F. Supp. 2d 25, 3B. Conn. 2005) (holding that
an unpromptedtite from apolice dog “did not constitute a Fourth Amendmsseture’). Even
assuming tht the Federal defendants were aware thaBBi2 Canine Officelinstruced Jokerto
find Boudreau—and thathe Federal defendarftad the opportunity teguest Jokers removal
from theCue & Brew—no evidence suggésthatthe Federaldefendants knewr should have
known thatBPD Canine Officemwould allow Joker to approach Boudreavoreover, no
evidence inttatesthat the Federaldefendants knew anything aboeitherthe BPD Canine
Officer's or Jokets trainingor practicesand there is nmdication that the~ederal defendants
were awardahatJoker would bi¢ the subjeaobf his track.

The Federal defendis are entitled tqualified immunity becauséwas objectively
reasonale for them to beliewe thattheir canduct at the timavas not unlawful.This case is
similar toWhitev. Harmon wheretwo police officeis compliedwith a police caninedndlers
request not to remove tisespecuntil the dog had finished his track, whiresultedin the dog
biting the suspct. 1995 WL 518865at *2 (6th Cir. Aug. 31, 1995). Although one of the two
officers knew ofa priorbiting incident irvolving the dog, théwo officers were not awaref the
handleranddog’sinadeqate trainingor of theterms ofthe police canine poligythus, the court

held thata “reasonable official would not understand that it was objectively unreasonable to
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heal” the canine hadlers request to permit the dog to apgch the suspectld. at *3. The
officers inHarmonknew that the caninia that case had been involved in a previous biting
incident;Riccio and Cullen knew nothing about Joker. And @ssthe canine officen Harmon
asked the officers to detain the defendant ungilddnindinished its track, the BPEanine
Officer in this case asked the BPD officensot even Riccio and Cullen—to detain Boudreau
until Joker finished his trackf the two officers ilHarmonwere entited toqualified immunity
thenRiccio and Cullerare all the more so herét most, the Feceral defendantsacted
negligently by failing to prevent Joker from approaching Boudreau. Howeeeenegligence
is insufficient to establishability for a violation under the Fourth Amendmentich “only
protectsindividualsagainstunreasonableseizuresnotseizures coducted in a ‘negligent’
manner. SeeDodd v. City of Norwich827 F.2d 1, 7-8 (2d Cir. 1987).
4, Failure to Intervendo PreventJoker from Approaching Boudreau

Boudreau maintamthatJoker bit himtwice. SeePl’s Oppn, Doc. No. 124, 8228
Even construing Joker’s first contact with Boudreausbite, | conclude thaa jury could no
reasonaly infer that Cullenand Rccio had a relistic oppatunity to intervene whedoker made
his first contactvith Boudreau Body@am Footagashows that Joké&s first contact with
Boudreauastedapproxinmatelyone secondSeeVideo 3, Doc. No. 72-%t 714. “Often it is
impossble for an officer  have a reasonable oppoityrio intervene ithe alleged use of force
was quick andsolated.” Gonzalez v. Waterbury Police Depli99 F. Supp. 3d 616, 623 (D.
Conn. 2016)seealso O’Nell, 839 F.2dcat 11 (threeblows to paintiff's head occurred in such

rapid succession that officer had no realistic opportunity to inteyyeaeks v Segay 2012 WL

5 However,as notedabove,in hisamendeccomplaint Boudreawcharacterized the fit“ bite” as a“nudge’ See
Am. Com., Doc. No. 1134 1 45.
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4051833, at *4 (D. Conn. Sept. 13, 2012) (jury could not reasonably conclude iitexthet
rea®nable opportunity to intervene to prevent dog bite which lasted for “half a second to a
second”);Jomson v. City of New YorR008 WL 4450270, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 29, 2008)
(officer had no reasondd opportunity to intervemwhen alleged use of forcestad only “a
couple of seconds”).

As detailed above, thBPD Canine Officercontinued to control Jek during the 11
seconds beteenJokers first cantact with Bowlreau andthelater, undisputedite. Also during
that time, a ring of BPD officers surrounded BoudreaicciBiand Cullen wereutside that ring,
and Cullen was on the phonBeither the BB officers ror Boudreau looked alarmexd
disturbed during those interim 11 seconds. Indeed, Boudreau contimneéésmall talkvith
the BPD Canine Officer“I s he siil in training?"—and exhibited nexternal signs of distress,
which mighthave alerted Riccio andulen that Joker posed a risk to Boudreau. Again, no
evidence indicates th&iccio or Cullen had any familiarity with the BPD CaaiOfficeis or
Jokerstraining or practicesPut simply, Riccicand Cullen did not know, and there was no
reason for them to have known, that tifelBCanine Officewould contine to @mmand Joker
to come closdo Boudreauwlespitethe risk of injury that Joker posed.

Thus, although 11 secondssenoughtimefor Riccio or Cullen to have intervened,
there wasio indicationthatthe BPD Canine Offic&'s handlingof Jokerpresented amimmminent
threatof excessiveforce See Edrev. Maguire 892 F.3d 525, 539 (2d Cir. 2018§t. denied
139 S. Ct. 2614 (2019)drucial question” under thqualified immunity analysis is “whether the
official acted reasonably in the particular circumstances that he or sh® faotinal quotation

marks and citation omitted)Under thgecircumstances, it was lojedively reasonabléor Riccio
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and Cullen to believe threconduct—notto interveneor interrupt theBPD Canine Officers
continued instructions to Joker—was not unldvafithe time SeeHarmon 1995 WL 518865,
at *3 (holding that, althougbanine hanleér's bringing dog “into immediate presence of the
handcufédplaintiff the dog was ‘trackindand closeenough tgermit hie dog to b the
plaintiff,” officers who had no knowledge about the dog or its handler’s laci&ioihgwere
enitled to qualified immunityon excessivéorce claimn).
D. Conclusion

In sum,Defendant Smith is entitled to summagudgmen becausée was not personally
involved in the alleged constitutional violation. ADdfendantsRiccio and Cullen are entitled
to summary judgment becausey are entitledo qualified immunity for theialleged role in
Boudreau’s dog bite. Thuthe Defendantsmotion for summary judgnmg, doc. no. 72is

granted.

Il. Boudreau’'sMotion for Sanctions(Doc. No. 110)

During discovery in this case, Boudreau sought to obtain Csiiext messages from the
night in question, but he was unable to do SeeRuling, Doc. No. 102, at 15-16Cullen was
unable to provide Boudreau with those text messages because, IH&salyitched phone
carriers (fromSprint to Verizon) in 2016and his text messages were lost as a reSekDefs!
Obj. to Mot. fa Sanctiols, Doc. No. 111at2. Boudreau argues that the Defendatatiture to
retain Cullen’s text mesages constituted spoliation of evidence andasqd that sanction
Cullen under Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(2). (Boudreau had written a letter to tB&lS field dfice in

Rhode Island dated January 12, 2016 indicating his intent to diirgaon aganst the DHS
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officers involved inhis DecembeR015 arrest. SeeBoudreau Letter, Doc. No. 111-1, at 1.)
allowed Boudreau the opportunity serverequests on DHS for documents conceriitfS' s
cell phone caier switdh in February 2016 ants retention policesfor text mesages on DHS
employees’ phonesSeeRuling, Doc. No. 138, at 11l. also requestethat theDefendants
provide Boudreau with information concerning the receipt date of his letter dated January 12,
2016 ando search th€loud for ackups ofCullen s text messagesnd if found,to provide
themto Boudreau.Seed. at 11-12.

| defered ruling on the motion for sanctions until Boudrébad his supplerantal
memorandm based on any new information he receiiveth Defendants and DHSSee d. at
12. After theDefendantdiled their reponse to my order, Boudreéled his supplemental
memorandum.SeeResponse, Doc. No. 14B|.’s Suypp. Mem., Doc. No. 141. In the days that
followed, the Defendants responded again, and Boudreau filed another supplemental
memorandum and repl\SeeResponse, Doc. Nal42;Pl’s Addl Mem. in Supp., Doc. No.
143; Reply, Doc. No.44. For the reasons that follp | concludethat no sanctionare
warranted and sdeny Boudreaus motion

A. Defendart’ Response

In response to myrjr Ruling, he Defendants have submitted maals regarding (1)
DHS's 2016 decisiono switch carrierdrom Sprint to Verizon(2) the receipiof Boudreaus
letter dated Januparl2, 2016; and3) theDefendaits’ search fobackups ofCullen' s text
messagesSeeRegponse, Doc. No. 140.

1. Switch from Sprint to Verizon
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DHS provided anaffidavit from LeonardPulley.” SeePulley Aff., Ex. A to Defs!
Response, Doc. No. 140-1ulley avers thabn October 30, 2015 print informed the General
Services Administration th&printwould not renew its contract with théederalgovernmenset
to expire on April 5, 2016See idat § 4 Thus, in February 201&e United Satesimmigration
and CustmsEnforcemen (“ICE”) agency decidetb migrate fromSprintto Verizon, which
since2013 hadhlso been designated carriewithin DHS. See idat {1 24. Puley exdains
that as part of that trart®n, ICE instructed its emplyees to wpe cleartheir iPhone 5S
devices toreturnthem and to obtaim newiPhone 6 deviceSeed. at 5. Pulleyrepresers
that Cullens cellphone numbewasmigrated from Sprint toVerizon on February 23, 201&ee
id. Pulley alsogtates thathe Office of the Chief Information Officerhas no policy or gdance
on short mesgying service“SMS’) or text service used by ICE employees, although carriers o
serviceproviders may retaiBMS ortext messagefor 30 days.Seed. at | 6.

2. Receiptof Boudreauws LetterDated January 12, 2016

Thedefendants have submitted an email chiat rélects thaBoudreats letter dated
January 12, 201@as received Y Special Agent James Ricllgonat theHSI field officein
Providence, Rhae Islandby, at the latestlaruary 26, 2016.SeeEmail Chain, Ex. B to Defs.’
Resmnse (Email Chan”), Doc. No 140-2at4. On January 26, ian emailentitled
“BOUDREAU LawsSut Letter,” Richardson forwarded Boudréadletterto Cullen, who then
forwardedthe enail to Jerry DeMaipICE’s Asdstant Chief CounselSee d. at 3-4. Cullen
wrote “Jerry, Please see the attached letter that we receivadfdefendant regardingshi

recent arrestPlease gie me a cdlat your conveniencéo discuss. Id. at 3. DeMaio

" Pulley isBrarch Chief of Infrastructure ProjecSevices, Iformation Technology OperatisrDivision, Office of
the Chiefinformation OfficerUnited States Immigration and Customs Enforceni@HS. SeePulley Aff., Ex. A
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subsequently forwarded thB OUDREAU Law Suit Lettet email to District Court Litigation
Division Deputy (‘DCLD”) Chief Scott Whitted See d. DeMao explainedhe facts of the case
(from his perspectiveand that Joker “nipped” Boudreau “in the krauring the arrest.Id.
DeMaioaddedhatthe BPD Canine Officer hadla body cameran during the arrestand that
“the individual who wrde this letter has seningilar ones to various od[law enforcement]
agencies relatew other sights, real operceived.”Id.

Deputy Chief Whitted responded shotttereafter“l don’t know if Mr. Boudreau
actually will file a suit, butvhile we’re waitingto find out,plea® tell HSI to retain all nes,
reports, etc. they have dhe ncident. Also, it would be helpful if HSI could ask the Branford
PD to 1) retain the video from the body camera, and 2) if possible give a ddfy.told. at 2
In areturn email, DeMi@ wrote: “Thanks. Thats exadly whatl've aready adviseditem? Id.
In an email én mindes laterDeputy Chief Whitted responded:

Perfect. If he actually files a claim or a suit, then DCLD can issue a
preservation noticel don’t want to go through thalrill . . .right now and

patentially waste the time o& lot of peoplein reaction to what might be
an idle threat bgameone who is in jail with a laif time on his hands.

3. Search for Text Messages
Pulley represents thate Office of the Chieflnformation Officerdoes not retain cellular
or wirelessinformatian in its Cloud dataofferings SeePulley Aff., Doc. No. 140-1, at { 6.
Thus, Pulley representdCE cannot search the Cloud for SM$®srages because they are not
stored in the Cloud.ld.

B. Discussion

to Defs! ResponseDoc. No. 14-1,at 1.
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In his Mdion for Sanctions, Boudau seek moretary santtons, an adverse inference
judgment in higavor, anorderstriking the motion for summary judgment, or any osgaction
| might deem jusand proper.SeeMot. for Sanctions, Doc. No. 110, at 1, 14:-BPB's Suypp.
Mem., Doc. No. 141at 12-14. In prior rulings, Ihad ordered Cullen to stilose hiscell phore
records from December 29, 201SeeRuling, Doc No. 102,at 15-16, Ruling, Doc. No. 112at
18. On September6, 2019 Cullen provided Boudreau wita telephone lofyom the nighof
Decamber 29, 2015, butedendants dvisedBoudreatuthatCullen could not obtain text message
information due t@ switch in carriein February 201éhatresultedn theloss ofall Cullens
text messagesSeeDefs.’ Notice, Doc.No. 115,at1; Defs! Obj. to Ma. for Sanctions, Doc.
No. 111,at 1Q

A district court maympose sanctions for spoliation in violation of a court orcgze
Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)Further,a court may sanction a partyellectronically sored
information (“ESF’) “thatshouldhave beempreserved in thanticipation or conduct of litigation
is lost because a party failed to take reasonable steps to preseraglitR. Civ. P. 3&)2). If
prejudice results from loss of thHagl, acourtmay“order measures no greater than necessary to
cure the prejudicé Fed. R. Civ. P. 3(&)1). And,if a party “acted with the intent to deprive
another party of the information’s use in thigation,” the court may presumehat the lost
informationwas unfavorable” to the other party, instruct the jury on su@deerse inference,
or “dismissthe action’ Fed. R. Civ. P. 3&)2).

“Spoliation isthe destructiolor significant alteration of evidence, or the failure to
preseve property for aothers use a evidence in pending reasombly foreseeable litigation.”

Westv. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Cdl67 F.3d 776, 779 (20ir. 1999). ‘The partyseekng
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discovery sanctions on the basispbliatilm must show by a prepondecanof the evidence:
‘(1) that the pay having cantral over the evidence had an obligation to preservetiteatime it
was destryed; (2) that the recordsane destroyed with autpable state of mind; and (3) that the
destroyed eviencewas relevant to the paftyclim or déense such t a reasoabk trier of
fact could find thait would support that clai or defense.”Klipsch Grp., Inc. v. ePRO E-
Commece Ltd, 880 F.3d 620, 628 (2d Cir. 2018) (quotidhgin v. Port Auth. of N.Y. &.J., 685
F.3d 135, 162 (2d Cir. 2012)¥The obligation to peserve evidence arises when the party has
notice that thevidence is re&vant to litigation or when a party should have knovat the
evidence may be relevantficturelitigation.” Fujitsu Ltd. v. Federal Exp. Corp247 F.3d 423,
436 (2d Cir. 2001). “Atualpresentand possible future litigationepresent “catalysts of equal
strength foithe preservation of evidenceBagley v. Yale biv., 318 F.R.D. 234, 240 (D. Conn.
2016). If a party did have an obligation to pres&vidence, the court “must then citer
whether the evidence was intentionally destroyed, and the likely contents of that eVidence
Fujitsu, 247 F.3d at 436.

As the movant, Boudesl bearshe burden to demairate by clear andonvincing
evidenceahatCullen spoliaed his text messagetentionally todepive him d theiruse inthis
liti gation. SeeCAT3,LLC v. BlackLineage/nc., 164F. Supp. 3d 488, 499 (S.D.N.Y. 261
(finding “clear and convincing” the propstandard for analyzing an intent to deprive under Rule
37(e)(2))® Absentevidencesufficient forsanctions undeRule37(e)2), relief for spoliation of
ESI may include “measures no greater than necessamyre the prejude causedoy the

spdiation. Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(&)).
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Boudreau contends that the Defendants had notice of their duty to preserve evidence
relevant tohis litigation when theyrecaved his January 12, 2016 letter, which indicated hi
intentto file anaction d eging excessive force and negligent faltointervenebased on the
events of Decemb&9, 2015. SeeMot. for Sanctions, Doc. No. 110, at 1-2; Boudreattdr,
Doc. Na 36-8, at 4.The Defendantsounter that any obligation to gerve evidece did not
arise until Fall 2017AvhenBoudreau seedthem withhis Bivenscomplaint? Defs. Obj. to
Mot. for Sanctions, Doc. No. 111, at 7, 1Refore thenthe Ddendants egue they did not have
noticeof Boudreaus potential claimbased on theiffailure © intervenan Jokers approach Id.
at 7-8. Rather, the Bfendants explain, Boudreau’s letter dated January 12, 2016tetdibat
hisfailure to interene claim agast the Federal defendants would focus on thegligence
whena BPDofficer allegedly gavégesturesand commands”for Joker to bite Boudreau wé
he was handcufte Id. at8. The Defendants argue thatllens cell phone recordaerenot
relevantto Boudreau'sllegationat that time See d. When the Fedal defendants’ actions
leadingup to the bite became an issue in the easeFall 2017 well after the swithin carrier
in February 2016-the Defendantpromply issuel a Presenation Notice for ESI.See idat 15;
Preservation Notice, Doc. No. 111-2.

As | reeenty observed the contents of Boudreau’s January 12, 26t&r—which was
receivedby January6, 206 at tle HSI Rhode Islandield office—evinces Boudreau's intent to
pursue itigation against the DHS officers involvedth his December 2015 arteandDHS

should have understodkatit had an obligabn to preserve evideneencluding cell phone

8 To satisfytheclear and conviring evidencestandad, there must be “evidence indicating that the thing to be

proved ishighly probable or reasonabgertain.” Dongguk Univ. v. Y& Univ, 873 F. Supp. 2d 46068 (D. Conn.
2012)(quotingRagbirv. Holder, 389 F App'x 80, 8485 (2d Cir.2010).

® Boudreau fied his federal compint an April 10, 2017, and serviaen Defendants was condpte as 6October 20,
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records—relevant to the tine period prior to the approach and bigeeRuling, Doc. No. 138at
9-1Q Boudreau Letter, Doc. No. 1114t 1 Indeedgcertain individuals within DHSnew they
should retain all relevant informatiorpanrecept of Boudreau’s January026 letter.Deputy
Chief WhittedinstructedDeMaio to tel the Federal defendanit® retain all notes, reports, etc.
they have on theacident and tohave“the Branford PD . . retain the video from thbody
camerd Emais, Doc. No. 140-2, at 2.

Although D#Maio’s and Whittets emails are rathdippant, | concludethatCullenis
failure totake measuss to retairhis cellular dataconstitutegdat most negligererather than a
“conscious dereliction of a known duty to peeveé his cellular data.SeeUngarv. City of New
York 329 F.R.D. 8, 13 (E.D.N.Y. 2018). Cullen notifiedMaio of Boudeaus letter,and
DeMaio indicatedthat a preservationotice would not be issued until Boudreaatually filed a
claim or lawsuit. Emails, Doc. No. 14@®, at2. HoweverDeMaioapparently advised Cullen to
“retain all notes, reports, €t¢hat he had regarding the Decemet5 incident.See id. About
one month later, ICE instructe@ullento wipe his cell phonecleanand trae it in for a different
phone. Cullen apparently did as he was told. He did not stop to conbielrerdoing so
would compromise &uture preservation dutgrising fromthe Decembef015 ircident with
Boudreau. The loss of Culles’text messages wasfartunate, but Cullen did not destroy his
text messages for the purpose of depriving Boudreau of those text messages. Cullen simply
followed Departmeniwide instructions tawipe his cell phone in prepation for the Februgr
2016carrier migration.Seelokai HoldingsLLC v. Twin Tiger USALLC, 2018 WL 1512055, at
*16 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 12, 2018) (noting that intent may be inferredibyumstantiakvidencebut

declining to impose sanctions for spoliatwwhere “the presented evidence may be capable of

2017.SeeDefs! Obj. to Mot. for Sanctions, DocNo. 112 At 7.



morethan ondnterpretation”and “does not clearly and convincingly shovéfendatsdelete
emailsfor the purpose of keeping thdrom plaintiff).

The fact that th&ebruary 201®epartmentwide migrationfollowed closdy afterHSI's
Rhode Island field oite receivedBoudreaus letterdoes not suggethat Cullendestroyed his
cell phonedatato deprive Boudeauof its use irthislitigation As | havepreviously emarked
it was unlikely that Boudreag'January 201&etter spurred a Departmewide phonecarrier
switch. SeeRuling, Doc.No. 138, at 10. Pulleglso averred that the switch was precipitated by
Sprint'sDecembef015 noticahat it would not renew its contraeith the federal government.
SeePuUley Aff., Doc. No. 140-1, at { 4ln any eent,temporal proximityalone does ot
necesarilyestablish clear and convincing evidewnééntent. SeeKarschv. Blink Health Ltd.,
2019 WL 2708125, at *22 (S.D.N.Y. June 20, 2QEshionExch.LLC v. Hybrid Promotions,
LLC, 2019 WL 6838672, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 16, 2Dp19

Because | hold that clear and convincing evidence does not establish that Cullen
intentionally deprived Badreauof the use oCulleris text messages, | decline to impase of
the severgbut permissiveyanctions contemplated under Fed. R. Civ. R)&), including an
adverse inference alismissal of thection. | also decline to impose a lesser sanction on
Cullen—suchas the cost afopying and mailing involved in Boudreauliscovery motion
practice—under Fed. R. Civ. P. 88)(1). That is becausealthaugh | noted thatecords of
Culleni stextsmight have been relevant to whether Cullen and Riccio failed to intervene when
the BPD officers permitted Joker approaciBoudeay seeRuling, Doc. No. 138, at 6—-7#-s

not clearthat they wergand so Boudreawas not clearlyprejudiced by not having thenThe

28



Bodycam Footage in this case supports that wieitherCullen nor Riccio is apparently privy
to the BPD radio communications, and neither of them is in Boudr@auediatevicinity.

For the foreging reasons, Boudreau’s motion for sanctions, doc. no. 1dénisd

As detailed above, the Defenddntsotion for summary judgment, doc. no. 72, is
granted, and Boudreau’s motion for sanctions, doc. no. 11@eimsed The Clerk is directeat

enter judgment for the Defendants and close the case.

SO ORDER atBridgeport,Connectcut this 31st day of March2020.

/s/ STEFAN R. UNDERHILL
Stefan RUndelhill
United States Distct Judye
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